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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

E.C., a minor, individually and by and
through his parents amext friends, W.C.
and K.C.,

Plaintiff,
VS. Case No. 18-1106-EFM

U.S.D. 385 ANDOVERet al,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
Before the Court is Defendant U.S.B85 Andover’'s (“USD 385”) motion to dismiss
Counts 1, IV, V, VI, VII, and VIII of Plantiff's First Amended Complaint (Doc. 44).Plaintiff
E.C., by and through his parents Wadd K.C., brings this action muant to the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IEA”), Section 504 of the Rehditation Act of 1973 (“Section
504"), Title Il of the Americans with Disabiles Act (“ADA”), and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. For the
reasons stated below, the Court grants USD 38b6ton to dismiss Counts |, IV, V, VI, VII, and

VIII.

1n its motion, USD 385 does not seek to dismiss Counts Il or IlI.
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l. Factual and Procedural Background

E.C. is an 1l-year-old boy with a disitpi who has attended many local schools,
oftentimes transferring in the ddle of the year. At one time another, E.C. has attended New
Song Academy, Princeton Children’s Center, Hotgss Lutheran School, Sunflower Elementary
School, Meadowlark Elementary School, PexgpSpecial Day School, Haverhill Special Day
School (“Haverhill”), Heartspring Day School Heartspring”), Lincoln Elementary School,
Andover eAcademy, and Prairie Creek Edenary School (“Prairie Creek®). Particularly
relevant to this case is the fact that E.@Geraded Fifth Grade at Prairie Creek in Andover and
Haverhill in Augusta, both of wbh are within USD 385’s district To accommodate disabled
students and provide them wkhee, Appropriate Public Eduten (“FAPE”), USD 385 and other
Butler County school districts have formed Bigtler County Special Education Interlocal #638
(“Interlocal”).* Throughout E.C.’s schooling, the Interddtas developed several Individualized
Educational Programs (“IEP”) and Bavioral Intervention Plans (“BIRto attempt to meet E.C.’s
special educational needs.

E.C.’s disability> manifests itself in aggressive, diptive, disobedient, offensive, and
sometimes violent, behavior. The Interlocal first formed an IEP and BIP for E.C. on November

19, 2011. Over time, E.C.’s behavior and schmmformance failed to improve. Beginning in

2 The facts are taken from E.C.’s First Amended Compkaid are accepted as true for the purposes of this
ruling.

3 Although it is unclear from E.C.'s Amended Coniptanot all of these schools are under USD 385's
administration.

4 The Interlocal is comprised of nine school districts in Butler County, one of whitBDs385.
5 E.C.'s doctor has evaluated him as falling within the “autism spectrum disorder.” However, USf385 a

the Interlocal contested this diagnosis, relying on indepémdaiuations that placed E.C. more in the attention deficit
hyperactive disorder, and/or other behavioral disorders. That dispute is not relevant to the otioent m
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2015, E.C. received educationahsees from Heartspring. Uike prior intenentions, these
services consistently improved®E'’s performance in school, redng the negative manifestations
of his disability. However, beginning in tsemmer of 2016, Heartspring was no longer able to
provide E.C. with full-time educational servicparsuant to his IEP.Instead, E.C.’s primary
school at the time, Prairie Creek, undertook to cautythe IEP largely by itself, with some weekly
assistance from Heartspring staff. After four emergency safety intemei(‘ESI”) in Fall 2016,
Prairie Creek’s principal indicadethat E.C.’s IEP should beadified and that he should be
transferred to Haverhill. In October 2016, E.@asents consented to the new IEP and transferred
E.C. to Haverhill. Neither Prairie Creekor Haverhill's environments improved E.C.’s
educational or behaviorautcomes as Heartspring had.

Two events in E.C.’s educational history aaaticularly relevant tahis motion. First,
throughout E.C.’s schooling, his parents have lasived with the Interlocal’s development and
modification of his IEP. However, in May 2016 tinéerlocal made changes to E.C.’s IEP without
consulting his parents. In response, E.C. fdezbmplaint with the Kansas State Department of
Education (“KSDE"), which ruled in his favorLater that year, in Qober 2016, Prairie Creek
called local police after a particularly aggressinstance of E.C.’s mbehavior. The police
arrested E.C. and took him to juvenile detentiorwas after this arrestdhPrairie Creek initiated
another IEP modification, traresting E.C. to Haverhill.

The second event relevant to this motion occurred in Spring 2017. In response to a
perceived lack of clarity in Havkill's communications with E.C.’garents, E.C. filed for an IDEA
due process hearing on March 31, 2017. Beggon April 10, E.C.’s parents stopped sending
E.C. to Haverhill and instead utilized the Interlocal’s A+ online learning system. Noticing E.C.’s

absence from school, Haverhill senletter of inquiry to E.C.’parents on April 14, 2017. E.C.’s
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parents failed to respond to thetter, incorrectly assuming that@&'s use of the online learning
system constituted school attendance. Haveilgtl a truancy charge with the KSDE, and on
June 23, 2017, an agent of the Kansas Depattfoe Children and Families (“KDCF”) went to
E.C.’s home to speak with his parents. E.Q&ents were not home at the time but later
communicated with the KDCF agent, informing hbout the ongoing IDEA due process hearing.
In response, the KDCF agent closed the truanegstigation, indicatinghat she was formerly
unaware of the IDEA proceedings.

Pursuant to E.C.’s March 31, 2017 IDEA cdaipt, a hearing was held by independent
hearing officer James Beasley (the “Hearing €&fiff) over a period of nine days (June 26-28, July
12-13, August 23—-24, and September 19-20, 2017). Tarngefficer considered the following
guestions: did USD 385 and the Intadl (collectively the “District§ deny autism as the primary
exceptionality for E.C., resulting aendenial of FAPE?; did the Distts fail to provide appropriate
services for E.C.’s autism diagnosis, resultingaimenial of FAPE?; did the Districts fail to
implement the behavior interventipian, resulting in a denial of FE?; did the Districts fail to
ensure that the IEP provided FAPE?; did stricts refuse to provide a required IEP
amendment?; and lastly, if the Districts failed provide FAPE, does that entitle E.C. to a
residential placement at an undetermined locatidii2 Hearing Officerssued his decision on
December 18, 2017, ruling in favor of USB5 and the Interlocal on all issues.

E.C. timely filed an appeal with the KSR January 17, 2018. Administrative Law Judge
Bob L. Corkins (the “Review Officer”) reviewdtle Hearing Officer’s decision and affirmed it on
March 2, 2018. After mperly exhausting all administrativemedies under the IDEA, E.C. filed

this Case on April 2, 2018, seeking review and mr&aleof the IDEA adnmistrative decisions.



Multiple Defendants moved to dismiss the complaint. In response, E.C. filed his First Amended
Complaint, further suppleméng his factual allegations.

In addition to his IDEA claims, E.C. aste Section 504 and ADA claims, alleging that
USD 385 failed to provide public education frieem discrimination based on his disability.
Furthermore, E.C. asserts a 8 1983 claim, ailpgiSD 385 violated hisghts under the Fourth
and Fourteenth Amendments through its discgsiimmeasures. USD 38®w moves to dismiss
Counts |, IV, V, VI, VII, and VIII for failure to state claims.

Il. Legal Standard

Under Rule 12(b)(6), a defendant may mdoe dismissal of any claim for which the
plaintiff has failed tcstate a claim upon which relief can be graftadpon such motion, the court
must decide “whether the complagantains ‘enough facts to state aiai to relief that is plausible
on its face.” ¥ A claim is facially plausible if the plaiiff pleads facts sufficient for the court to
reasonably infer that the defendant is liable for the alleged miscdhdinet.plausibility standard
reflects the requirement in Rule 8 that pleadipigs/ide defendants with ifanotice of the nature
of claims as well the grounds on which each claim fedtsider Rule 12(b)(6), the court must
accept as true all factual allegations in the complaut need not afford such a presumption to

legal conclusiong® Viewing the complaint in this mannethe court must decide whether the

6 Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

" Ridge at Red Hawk, LLC v. Schneidé®3 F.3d 1174, 1177 (10th Cir. 2007) (quotiBgl Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007yee also Ashcroft v. Ighd@56 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

81gbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citingfwombly 550 U.S. at 556).

9 See Robbins v. Oklahonl9 F.3d 1242, 1248 (10th Cir. 2008) (citations omitteek; alsdred. R. Civ.
P. 8(a)(2).

0]gbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79.



plaintiff's allegations give rise tmore than speculative possibiliti¥s.If the allegations in the
complaint are “so general that they encompasgia sivath of conduct, much of it innocent, then
the plaintiffs ‘have not nudged their claims asrtise line from conceivable to plausiblet?”

lll.  Analysis
A. Counts | & IV — “Denial of Due Process” and “Deference/Due Weight” (IDEA)

In Counts | and IV, E.C. asserts two claiansing under the IDEA. However, the Court
concludes that these Counts do independently assert IDEA claind#fferent from the claims in
Count Il or Ill, respectively. In his ResponseCEappears to concede that Counts | and IV are
based on the same legal theories—but supportetighylg different facts—as Counts Il and .
E.C. seems to accept the proposed collapsing of €bamid 1V into Counts Il and 1ll, so long as
his separate factual allegatioage not dismissed. The Court doeot dismiss specific factual
allegations that may support Couhts IV but ratheragrees with USD 385 that, for the sake of
judicial efficiency, those Counts laismissed as superfluous to Counts Il and Ill. As a result, the
Court grants USD 385’s motion to dismiss Counts | and IV.

The IDEA provides federal funds to hel@tst and local educaticeigencies meet their
obligation to educate students with disabilifi2sA state receiving federal funds under the IDEA
must implement policies to ensure that disakledents have access to a “free, appropriate public

education,” commonly known as FAPE. Under the IDEA, state educational agencies must

11 See id.(“The plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’ but it asks for more than a
sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” (citation omitted)).

2 Robbins 519 F.3d at 1247 (quotingvombly 550 U.S. at 570).
1320 U.S.C. § 140Gt seq.
1420 U.S.C. § 1412(a)(1)(A).



adhere to substantive and procedural requirentents.Kansas, if a disabled student believes that
he is not receiving FAPE, or that the state hatatéd IDEA procedures, he can file a complaint
with the Kansas State Department of Education (“‘KSDEJhe aggrieved student is entitled to
a due process hearing from an admintstealaw judge (the'Hearing Officer”)!’ During that
hearing, parties can present evidence, crossiegamitnesses, and allege violations of the
IDEA.*® The Hearing Officer creates a record tbé administrative hearing and issues its
decisiont®

The student can appeal the Hearing ¢€2ffis decision to the Kansas Office of
Administrative Hearing$® There, another administrative lgudge (the “Review Officer”) will
review the Hearing Officer’s decision in its entirety and issue its ded@siafter exhausting these
two administrative remedies at the state leveludesit may file a civil action in federal district
court, seeking review dhe administrative hearing$.Plaintiffs may state a cause of action under
the IDEA in two different waydoy asserting a violation of the g substantive provisions, or by
asserting a violation of the &s procedural requirements.

To establish a prima facie case for violatadrihe IDEA’s substamnte FAPE requirement,

a plaintiff must prove that the public agencgpensible for providing education services to a

15T.S. v. Indep. Sch. Dist. No.,365 F.2d 1090, 1091 (10th Cir. 2001).
1634 C.F.R. § 300.508t seq

1734 C.F.R. § 300.511; K.A.R. 91-40-29(b).

1834 C.F.R. § 300.512.

1934 C.F.R. § 300.513.

0K S.A. 72-3418; K.S.A. 75-37,12 I(d).

2134 C.F.R. § 300.514; K.A.R. 91-40-51(f).

2K.S.A. 72-3418.

2320 U.S.C. § 1415(j).



disabled student failed to develop an IEP thas reasonably calculated to provide educational
benefit to the studerif. To establish a prima facie case of liability for vima of the IDEA’s
procedural requirements, a piaff must prove that the agey responsible for providing
educational services to the disabled studmiled to comply with either (1) the IDEA’s
identification, evaluation, or placement proceduras (2) the IDEA’'s pocedural safeguards,
including the opportunity to make a complaintr¢oeive notice of a proposal or refusal to change
a student’s placement, and to have an impartial due process Héaring.

In Count I, E.C. essentially asserts a procalduolation of the IEA. Since E.C. more
clearly states this procedurablation in Count II, the Court cohmes that Count Il adequately
covers the claims E.C. attempts to make in Caumih Count Il, E.C. déges that “the [Hearing
Officer] here ignored and failed tmalyze the procedural violatis alleged by Panés in the due
process proceeding and failed todithat such procedural vidlans impacted E.C.’s access to
educational opportunity and benéfitSimilarly, E.C. alleges itfCount | that théHearing Officer
violated his IDEA proceduratights by refusing to fully admit certain evidence. Count Il
substantially fleshes outdtapplicable law as well as alleging more specific facts relating to E.C.’s
procedural claim. The Court, therefore, dismssSeunt | for failure to state a claim independent
from Count II.

Likewise, in Count Il E.C. challenges the \Rawv Officer’s affirmation of the Hearing
Officer’s decision. Count Il allges substantive violatns of IDEA, arguing that E.C. was denied

FAPE when USD 385 “predetermined” that an antexceptionality shoulde excluded from the

24 SeeBd. of Educ. of Hendrick Hudson Cent. Sch. Dist., Westchester Cty. v. Rtd@dy.S. 176, 187-191
(1982).

2520 U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(E)(ii); 34 C.F.R. § 300.513(a)(2).
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IEP. Count Ill further allegeshat the Districts failed tgrovide E.C. with “appropriate
nonacademic services” and denied him extended school year services. These substantive
allegations were considered in the Hearing anddwe Officers’ determin@on of the denial of

FAPE to E.C. Count IV allges that the Review Officer e faulty reasoning based on
inappropriate evidence when immndently considering the FAREEtermination. Since Count Il
adequately alleges thosmlations, the Court alsdismisses Count IV fdiilure to state a claim
independent from Count 1.

B. Counts V & VI — Section 504 and the ADA

E.C. has labeled both Counts V and VI'&sction 504 and the ADA.” In Count V, E.C.
alleges that USD 385, through the Interlocal @ademployees, discriminated against E.C. by
reason of his disability and thedore violated both Section 504 thie Rehabilitation Act and Title
Il of the ADA. In Count VI, E.C. similarly #ges that USD 385 violated Section 504 and the
ADA because it had “practices é@mpolicies” that discriminatedgainst disabledtudents like
himself. For the following reasons, the Court dades that E.C. has failed to state claims in
Counts V and VI, and the Court dismisses both claims.

Claims under 8§ 504 of the Rehabilitation Acid Title 1l of theADA, “involve the same
substantive standards, [soucts] analyze them togethef.” Both § 504 and Title Il of the ADA
state that no individual with a disability shdlhy reason of” such digality, be subjected to
discrimination?” To state a prima facie claim undercgen 504 or the ADA, a plaintiff must

allege that: (1) he is disabled @ndhe Act; (2) he is “otherwise qualified” to participate in the

26 Miller ex rel. S.M. v. Bd. of Educ. of Albuguerque Pub., &% F.3d 1232, 1245 (10th Cir. 2009) (internal
citations omitted).

2729 U.S.C. § 794; 42 U.S.C. § 12132 (emphasis added).
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program; (3) the program receives federal findrasaistance; and (4) the program discriminates
against the plaintiff® Furthermore, a plaintiff musilege intentinal discriminatiort® However,
intentional discrimination does not require proof of “personal animosity or ill Hilllhstead,
“intentional discriminatiortan be inferred from a defendardsliberate indifference to the strong
likelihood that pursuit of its quéened policies will likely resulin a violation of federally
protected rights® Put another way, “[tlhe test for deliberate indifference in the context of
intentional discrimination compmés two prongs: (1) knowledge that a harm to a federally
protected right is substgially likely . . . and (2) a failee to act upon it . . . likelihood.??
“[F]Jailure to act is a reult of conduct that isnore than negligent, dninvolves an element of
deliberateness®® Finally, “[u]lnder eitherthe ADA or the Rehabilitadin Act, [a plaintiff] is
obligated to show that he wa$etwise qualified for the benefits Beught and that he was denied
thosesolely by reason dhis] disability.”®*

Two Tenth Circuit decisions appto the present case. JH. ex rel. J.P. v. Bernalillo
County®® an officer arrested a disabletlident for kicking a teacheThe student alleged that the

arrest was “by reason of his disabilitgid therefore violated his ADA right$. The court held

28 Hollonbeck v. U.S. Olympic Comrs13 F.3d 1191, 1194 (10th Cir. 2008).
29 Powers v. MJB Acquisition Cordl84 F.3d 1147, 1153-54 (10th Cir. 1999).
301d. at 1153.

sld.

32 Barber ex rel. Barber v. Colo. Dep't of Revend@2 F.3d 1222, 1229 (10th Cir. 2009) (internal citations
omitted).

3d.

34 Fitzgerald v. Corr. Corp. of Am403 F.3d 1134, 1144 (10th Cir. 2005) (internal citations omitted)
(emphasis added).

35806 F.3d 1255 (10th Cir. 2015).
%1d. at 1257.
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that the officer acted by reason of the studerdisduct,not his disability?’ Likewise, inJ.V. v.
Albuquerque Public Schoof8 an officer handcuffed a disablstlident after the student displayed
physical aggression toward teachers. The Tenth Circuit permitted the physical restraint of the
disabled student based on his conduct. Rulif@vor of the school district on summary judgment,
the court concluded that “a student’s conduct makebalated, so long as the action is not taken
by reason of the student’s disatyif even if that conduct is ‘amanifestation of his disability3®

The Court concludes that E.C. has not statéakially plausible claim for discrimination
under Section 504 or the ADA. While E.C. states eidfit facts to satisfy #hfirst three elements
of a discrimination claim—that his disabled and qualified to piipate in the IDEA, and that
USD 385 receives federal funds—he fails to playsdilege facts to satisfy the final element,
discrimination. E.C. alleges that USD 385 disinated against him when the Interlocal
repeatedly restrained and se#d him in response to his diptive—and oftentimes violent—
conduct. He argues that since he was remowad the classroom, he was denied his right to
public education. Importantly, however, E.C. failaliege any facts that givese to an inference
that USD 385’s actions were solely—or evemtlga— “by reason of” E.C.’s disability. Even
though E.C. alleges that all of his actions were ‘“ifieatations of [his] disabty,” the 10th Circuit
has specifically held thda student’s conduct may be regulateelen if it isa “manifestation of
his disability.”® E.C. has failed to plausibly allegieat USD 385 discriminated against him by

reason of his disability and he has thereffailed to state a claim under Count V.

371d. at 1260.

38813 F.3d 1289 (10th Cir. 2016).
31d. at 1296.

40 Miller, 565 F.3d at 1245.
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E.C. also fails to stata claim under Count VIE.C. alleges no fastallowing tle Court to
reasonably infer that USD 385 has “practices dicigs” that intentionally discriminate against
students with disabilities. Rather, E.C. mentigeseral instances ofgteaint or seclusion in
response to his conduct. Since public entites legally permitted to regulate students’
misconduct, they are logically also permitténl enact practices and policies to regulate
misconduct. Even if E.C. sufficiently alledy@ thorough pattern of conduct such that de facto
practices and policies were established, he haslfailallege that those practices and policies did
anything more than legally regulate his miscond@ther than illegally dicriminate against him
by reason of his disability. TheoGrt concludes that E.C. has fal® state claims under Section
504 or the ADA in Counts V and VI. Asich, the Court dismisses those claims.

C. Count VII — 8 1983

Although it is unclear in thAmended Complaint, E.C. appears to assert a § 1983 claim
against USD 385. E.C. specificallileges that his Fourth and Fteenth Amendmdirrights were
violated when he was restrainadd secluded in response t® Imnisconduct. Since it is well
established that a government employer caly be vicariously liable under § 1983 for its
employees’ actions if the injury results frong@ernment policy, practice, or custom, the Court
assumes for the sake of argument that E.C. intendBege that USD 385 has a policy, practice,
or custom that violated his constitutional rightsor the following reams, the Court concludes
that E.C. has failed to statdaxially plausible claim under § 1983.

Section 1983 states, ialevant part: “Everpersonwho under color of [law] subjects, or

causes to be subjected, any citizen . . . to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities
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secured by the Constitution and laws, shallliable to the party injured . . #” Overruling an
earlier decisiort? the Supreme Court has held that, a myaiiy may be sued as a “person” under
§ 1983* But a municipality cannot be sued un8ex983 merely for the & of its employee¥
Instead, plaintiffs must establish that the municipality’s unconstitutional policy or custom was the
direct cause or moving foe behind the alleged injufy. A plaintiff may $ow the existence of
such a policy or custom by: (1) a formal reguator policy statement, (2) a widespread and well-
settled practice within thmunicipality, (3) ratification ofubordinates’ actions by a an employee
with final policy-making authorityand (4) failure to adequately train or supervise employees as a
result of deliberate indifference to potential injuries to the pdblidherefore, to survive the
present motion to dismiss, E.C. must havegaltkin his amended complaint facts sufficient for
this Court to reasonably infer that (1) USD 385 implemented or executed policies or customs that
led directly to the Individuals’ alleged use of excessive force, and (2) such policies or customs
have a direct causal relationghith E.C.’s alleged injur$)’

E.C. has failed to allege facts sufficidat the Court to reasonably infer that USD 385
“implemented or executed policies” that led toelxeessive use of force agai E.C. Rather, E.C.

simply alleges that USD 385’s contractual relaship with the Interlocal makes it “highly

4142 U.S.C. § 1983 (emphasis added).

42See Monroe v. Pap865 U.S. 167, 187 (1961) (holding that municipal governments may not be seed und
§ 1983 because “Congress did not undertake to bringaipal corporations withithe ambit of [§ 1983]").

43 See Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Sepv36 U.S. 658, 690 (1978).

4 See id.at 691 (“[W]e conclude that a municipality cannot be held liable solely because it employs a
tortfeasor—or, in other words, a municipality cannot be held liable under § 1982spoadeat superiaheory.”).

45 See idat 690, 694.
46 See Brammer-Hoelter v. Twin Peaks Charter Aca@? F.3d 1175, 1188-89 (10th Cir. 2010).
47 See Graves v. Thomats0 F.3d 1215, 1218 (10th Cir. 2006).
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unlikely” that some unnamed WS385 official was oblivious tactions by the Interlocal’s
employees. The Court is not persuadedt USD 385's mere knowledge—if any—of the
Interlocal’s disciplinary actions sufficiently ewies a policy, practice, or custom violating the
Constitution under § 1983. Without discounting the sgvef the allegations leveled at other
individual defendants, the Court concludes that E.C. has failst@ét® a facially plausible claim
against USD 385 and the Court dismisses Count VII.

D. Count VIl — Retaliation

Lastly, E.C. alleges in Count VIII that IS385 retaliated against him for exercising his
rights under the ADA, Section 504, and § 1983. LBBB moves to dismiss these claims, arguing
that E.C. did not suffer an “adverse actiarid cannot otherwise @lv a causal connection
between E.C.’s protected activity and USD 385%oms. USD 385 also argues, without citing to
governing authority, that E.C. faileto exhaust his administrative remedies with regard to this
retaliation claim and is therefolmrred from raising it now. EhCourt concludes that E.C. did
not need to exhaust admimeive remedies before bringj this retaliation claim.

To state a claim for retaliation under the ADAdeSection 504, a plaintiff must show three
things: (1) that the plaintiff engad in a protected activity, (2)ahthe plaintiff suffered adverse
action, and (3) a causahk between the protectedtiaity and adverse actioff. Similarly, to state
a claim for retaliation under 8 1988 plaintiff must show threeitigs: (1) that the plaintiff was
engaged in constitutionally protected activity, (Bttthe defendant’s actions caused the plaintiff
to “suffer an injury sufficient to chill a persaof ordinary firmness from continuing in that

activity,” and (3) that the defelant’'s adverse action was sulbsily based on the plaintiff's

48 Quidachay v. Kan. Dept. of Cor239 F. Supp.3d. 1291, 1295 (D. Kan. 2017).
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exercise of a constitutionally protected rightFurthermore, “close temporal proximity gives rise
to an inference of retaliatory motive,” but “distaemporal proximity does not and is insufficient
to establish a causal link between [atpcted activity and subsequent actiol]."However, the
temporal proximity . . . of three monthyupled withthe [the adverse actioof the defendant’s
agent], is sufficient to establish at leagtrima facie showing of retaliatory motiv&.”

In the present case, E.C. alleges that fgaged in protected activities in at least two
instances. First, heléid a complaint with the KSDE on May, 2016, after the Intiecal held an
IEP meeting without E.C. being present. Sec@&n@, filed an IDEA De Process Complaint on
March 31, 2017. The Couagrees that botbf these events are instas of E.C. engaging in
protected activities. As such,&.has alleged sufficient facts satisfy the first element of a
retaliation claim.

E.C. next alleges that he suffered adgeastion when USD 385, through the Interlocal,
contacted the KDCF after both administrative conmpdato report truancgnd possible parental
misbehavior. E.C. also alleges that USD 385 iagtiadi against him when d&rie Creek, one of its
constituent schools, called the local police to have him arrested in ©2@ik& five months after
E.C.’s complaint in May. Inesponse to these allegations, USD 385 argues that it could not have
acted adversely to E.C. since its responsive actiens legal. When the Interlocal filed a truancy
charge with the KDCF, E.C. had in fact beeseati from school for weeks. Furthermore, the

Interlocal first attempted to reach out to E.C.’sgmés to inquire about E.C.’s absences, but E.C.’s

49 Mimics, Inc. v. Village of Angel Fir894 F.3d 836, 847 (10th Cir. 2005).

50 Koon v. Sedgwick Cty., Kar2010 WL 11523875, at *4 (D. Kan. 201ajf'd sub nom429 F. App'x 713
(10th Cir. 2011).

ld.
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parents failed to reply. Addahally, when Prairie Creek call¢ide police inOctober 2016, it was
in response to E.C.’s aggressiteeats and violent behwiar. Both the Intdocal’s response to
E.C.’s truancy and Prairie Creek’s response @’E.misbehavior were reasonable, justified, and
legal. On their own, those mEnses cannot be considered “adverse action” that satisfies the
second element of retaliation. Since E.C. failaltege other facts inditiag that he suffered an
illegal adverse action, the Courtrmbudes that he has allegedsufficient facts to satisfy the
second element of a retaliation claim.

Lastly, E.C. alleges that the temporal proity between his protected activities and USD
385’s actions satisfies theeehent of causal connectionfhe Parties cite t&oon v. Sedgwick
County, Kansa#’ a case decided by thi®@t in 2010. In that casthe plaintiff was an employee
of the defendant when a co-worker filed a hostitek environment claim with the defendant’s
human resources department against plaintiéffsesvisor. After being interviewed in connection
with that complaint, the plaintiff was demoted arahsferred to a new work location. The plaintiff
alleged that his demotion and transfer resulted from the statements he gave in his interview with
human resources. In his complaint, the pifiiatleged that the HR employee—who was the
defendant’s agent—had recommedidiee plaintiff's demotion andansfer. The Court held that
the defendant’s actionspupled withthe temporal proximity of the protected activity and adverse
action, were sufficient to &blish a prima facie shong of retaliatory causatiot.

This case differs frorKkoonbecause E.C. merely allegemfmral proximity between his

protected activities and USD 38%istions. E.C. filed for an IDEA due process hearing on March

522010 WL 11523875 (D. Kan. 2010).
531d. at *4.
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31, 2017. Shortly thereafter, USD 38&nt E.C.’s parents a letter of inquiry, which they failed to
reply to. USD 385 then filed a truancy chawmgéh the KDCF. OnJune 23, 2017, KDCF agents
arrived at E.C.’s home to investigate the truackegrge, later terminating the investigation after
learning of the IDEA hearings. E.C. admits thatwas in fact physically absent from school at
Haverhill, and therefore warranting a truancy gear The temporal proximity of his protected
activities and USD 385'’s actiorsdone does not give rise to a reastte inference that the two
events were causally connected. Likewise, Ell€ges that the temporal proximity of his arrest
to the prior IDEA complaint establishes a causal connection. However, Prairie Creek called the
police in response to E.C.’s seonduct in October 2016, five montaier E.C.’s complaint in
May. Besides this sequence of events and thaiporal proximity, E.C. alleges no other facts
indicating that USD 385 had ata#iatory motive. Mere teporal proximity in this case—
unaccompanied by other factual allegatieffels to give rise to a reasonable inference that USD
385’s actions were causally connected to E.@rstected activities. As a result, the Court
concludes that E.C. has alleged insufficient daict satisfy the third and final element of a
retaliation claim. Because E.@as failed to allege facts tagport the second or third elements
of a retaliation claim, the Court dismisses Count Ydtlfailure to state aakcially plausible claim.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant U.S.D385 Andover’s Motion for
Partial Dismissal (Doc. 44) SRANTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 29th day of April, 2019.

/f&cc“ 7 /744@««

ERIC F. MELGREN
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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